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Prologue


On June 29, 2016, a story was published on page 4 of The New York Times under the headline “Escape Tunnel Is Found at Holocaust Killing Site.” Like most newspaper stories, it was notionally about something that had just happened, but at its root were events that had occurred over seventy years before. The article summarized how at a place called Ponar—a “Nazi extermination site” in a forest near Lithuania’s capital, Vilnius—as many as one hundred thousand people had been shot and buried. It reported how, in a subsequent attempt to eradicate evidence of this mass murder, eighty Jews had later been brought to Ponar by the Nazis. At night, these Jews were imprisoned in a deep circular pit; by day, they were tasked with digging up and burning the bodies of all those previously killed here. The article further described how twelve of these Jewish prisoners had succeeded in escaping through a tunnel dug with nothing but their hands and spoons. What made any of this news in June 2016—and over the next few days, this story would be widely reported around the world in print, digitally, and on radio and TV—was the just-announced discovery of what the Times referred to as a “forgotten tunnel.”


I remember being astonished not just by the story but by the fact that I’d never heard of the place where it all happened. In the weeks that followed, I looked into the story further. What had happened at Ponar was clearly no secret to anyone who had been paying attention—the basic facts had been known even before the end of the Second World War, and any reasonably comprehensive history of the period offers at least a passing overview. But it became clear that this particular story had rarely been focused upon. If you looked hard enough, you could find fragments of the Ponar narrative speckled here and there over the last seventy years—in disparate languages, cultures, contexts, places, forms, voices, and media. But more often than not, these fragments existed at the edge of other stories, half hidden in the far corner of vision, forever there but not there, slipping in and out of focus.


I wanted to understand more. I wanted to understand better what had happened here and, increasingly, I also wanted to understand how and why what had happened here could have managed to slip the world by. I had yet to realize how impossible it might be to separate the two.
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In September 2016 I traveled to Hartford, Connecticut, to meet with Richard Freund, the professor at the University of Hartford who had been instrumental in putting together the Lithuanian research project covered by the Times. He filled me in on his team’s work and on some Ponar history, and he directed me to the two known English-language testimonies from people who had escaped through the Ponar tunnel—one in an out-of-print book, the other a transcript in a museum archive.


The following month I flew to Lithuania and visited Ponar. There, in a small museum on the site, visitors could study exhibits, photos, and short pieces of text offering some information and context. One panel gave a list of twelve names—the prisoners who are said to have escaped from Ponar via this tunnel on the night of April 15, 1944. Nearby were brief quotes from some of these escapees about what they had done. There was also a photograph of three of these men, taken many years later, their hair now graying, sitting together on a sofa in an apartment in Israel facing the camera, their arms around one another.


On that first visit to Ponar, I wrote down this list of twelve names. I now had a plan. I resolved to tell, as best I could, the story of what had happened at this place, and in particular to present whatever I could uncover about these men and their implausible escape. I would discover as much as I could about who they were and what became of them: tell the story of their tunnel and also the story of its recent discovery. Everything that was possible to find out, I would strive to uncover. I had all sorts of ideas about what else this might achieve, but above all I wanted to tell a gripping, visceral story of a barely believable series of events, a story that had somehow never been told in this way before.


That was the book I set out to write.
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I did write that book, more or less. Its core sits within Part I of this book. That central story—the story of what happened to these men at Ponar in all its detail—turned out to be astonishing in ways far beyond anything I’d imagined.


More brutal, too. I think I’d convinced myself that because this story of what happened at Ponar would culminate in an escape (and so would become, at least for a few, a tale of survival), its telling would in some ways feel inspiring or uplifting. Perhaps, at times, it does. The narrative arc of what happened at Ponar during the war certainly does build toward a moment of grand defiance. But I also soon realized that the overall truth of what these men experienced would be dishonored and stifled if I failed to show how the rare flashes of salvation that emerged only did so from an abominable darkness of almost inconceivable extent and depth.


That was one way in which this book changed around me as I wrote it, but it was not the main one. In trying to tell the story I’d set out to tell, and in trying to understand what was true and to explain what I was discovering, I kept being dragged into another kind of narrative, one that I found at least as compelling. That was the story—or rather a whole daisy chain of related stories—about how the tale of what happened at Ponar had, and hadn’t, been told over the years, and the reasons why, and the unpredictable profusion of consequences. If I thought at the outset that the story of Ponar was the story of how a premeditated Nazi plan to hide evil from history and the future had been thwarted through some acts of improbable resistance and bravery, I also came to realize that another important part of that story was about how all of this—both that plan, and the heroic acts of defiance it inspired—had often been forgotten, or cast aside, or ignored, or misunderstood, or garbled, or suppressed.


As I began to follow every tendril wherever it led, I would repeatedly head off into what seemed like the remote distance, only to be led back toward the same story that had compelled me all along: about memory and honesty, history and barbarity; about forgetting and fragility and fallibility and resilience; about the unspeakable and the spoken; about heroism and shame; about the hazy line between misunderstanding and misrepresentation; about the power and frailty of storytelling itself—but, most of all, always, about what actually happened at a place called Ponar.
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That is why this book is in three parts.


In Part I, I tell the story of what happened at this place called Ponar during World War II. Entwined within this story are the experiences of men who were there and who would escape through a tunnel to freedom. In this first part of the book, I pause to explain how I know what I believe to have happened only when it seems either strictly necessary or particularly useful. But it is crucial that the reader should know, when reading this material, that this is not the kind of historical nonfiction in which scenarios and conversations have been imagined to fill in the gaps between what was documented. All of the Ponar escapees are now dead, but I managed to track down at least partial firsthand accounts from nine of them, often multiple accounts by the same person, and every incident or quote or thought ascribed to one of the escapees comes from testimony that they or their fellow escapees gave when they were alive (or, in a few instances, was quoted by those who directly spoke with these participants). When there are obvious gaps in this story, it will generally be because no one spoke of what is not being said. These accounts were given in a variety of situations over a long time span, and they often involve events of the most extreme stress and trauma, and those bearing witness weren’t always in the best position to understand what was happening around them. So their accounts, which are sometimes at odds with each other, can be fairly scrutinized with all that in mind. But everything that is written here is something that someone who was there said happened.


In Parts II and III, I am ostensibly tracing the story of what happened at Ponar, and the ebb and flow of its telling, and also the onward stories of the escapees, from the end of the Second World War up to the present day. Much of the time, this is also the narrative of how Ponar’s history has been used or repurposed or discarded according to the needs either of those telling it or of those choosing not to tell it. Even though Parts II and III are outwardly a chronicle of a more recent past, they repeatedly circle back to the wartime events at Ponar, revisiting aspects of what happened there. As a consequence, it could be quite fairly argued that I keep telling the same story over and over and over again. I wouldn’t even dispute that, because in a sense that is precisely what I have tried to do.


But what I hope is also true is this: In Part I, I will tell you what happened at Ponar. I will relate a series of events almost too terrible to describe, and I will detail how the desperation and ingenuity of a small group of men led to an improbable tunnel escape. I will strive to lay out that story in a vivid, detailed, and real way that feels more than enough. (Too much, maybe, at times.)


And then, in Parts II and III, I will hope to convince you that what you’ve learned so far was never nearly enough after all.









A Note on Names of Places and People


The site at the center of this book is known by a variety of names. Ponar is the anglicized version of its Yiddish name; Ponary its historical Polish and anglicized Russian name; Paneriai is its present-day Lithuanian name. In the text that follows I have chosen to use Ponar as this place’s default name, but at times I also use whichever version seems most appropriate in the context.


Likewise, most other Lithuanian places have been known by different names by different groups at different times. In particular, when I am talking of Lithuania’s capital city in the present day, I will refer to it as Vilnius, but when I am speaking of the wartime period, especially when discussing its Jewish community, I will generally refer to it by one of the names by which it became famous as a center of Jewish culture: Vilna. Similarly Lithuania’s second city will be referred to both by its present name, Kaunas, and the name more commonly used by Jews living there during the war, Kovno.


The main characters in this book existed in the intersection of at least five different languages—Lithuanian, Polish, Russian, Yiddish, and Hebrew—and three different alphabets. They often used different versions of their names themselves during different periods in their lives. As these names have been subsequently translated and transliterated back and forth between languages and cultures and alphabets, and also because people speaking about others may never have seen a particular name written down, multiple variations of each name can be found. During my research, I kept a file of the Roman alphabet variations of each escapee’s name, to ease the process of finding references to them—in the case of the man I will usually refer to as Motke Zeidel, I made a note of nineteen different versions of his name.


In the text, I will generally use one version of each name—wherever possible, the Roman alphabet version of the name that the person preferred or used later in their life. But I will also sometimes quote, without comment or further clarification, speech or documents in which a variation of the name is used, as long as I believe the identity of the subject being referred to is evident.









August 2017


Ponar and its story remain half-hidden in all kinds of ways, not least literally. Though this place is only a few miles from Lithuania’s capital, Vilnius, and though its designated twenty or so acres are currently maintained as a Holocaust memorial, it is fiendishly difficult to find. Occasional signposts do feign to indicate where the site is, but they don’t link up in any connected sequence that might actually lead you there. When you do arrive, unless you have made arrangements in advance, the small on-site museum will most likely be closed. You may see another car or two in the expansive parking lot, but just as likely you will have the place to yourself.


Today I am not traveling there alone. In the car with me is Abe Gol, a Florida resident who has retired from his job in the tire industry, shuttling between the United States and Japan. This is his first visit to Lithuania. The last couple of miles take us along winding roads in which the surrounding forest is broken by industrial buildings and then by the old apartment blocks and houses of Paneriai—an indistinct settlement radiating from a railway junction that doesn’t feel appropriate to describe either as a village or as a small town.


As we drive, Abe mutters quietly, to himself, “I pictured this totally differently.”


Getting out of the car, he looks around. “Where are the pits?” he asks.


We are the first of a larger party who are expected here today, and so the museum is open. Inside, Abe Gol looks at the list of escapees I had written down on my first visit, the twelve whose stories I am trying to uncover.


These are the names:




Josef Bielic


Abraham Blazer


Yitzhak Dogin


Yuli Farber


Shlomo Gol


David Kantorovich


Zalman Matzkin


Lejzer Owsiejczyk


Konstantin Potanin


Motke Zeidel


Adam Zinger


Peter Zinin*





The fifth name on this list is the reason Abe is here: Shlomo Gol was his father.
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We are the first to arrive, but the others—among them Richard Freund and some of the team who found the tunnel, now back in Lithuania to work on other projects—eventually gather.


Freund speaks to Mantas Šikšnianas, the guide who works for the museum. “I want the official story,” Freund requests. Mantas begins, “Paneriai is the biggest mass-killing space in Lithuania, but Lithuania is just filled with similar places like this one. . . . Officially in Paneriai they killed about a hundred thousand people, but now historians say it probably was about fifty or seventy thousand. . . . Of course we are not sure.”


After a while, Šikšnianas leads us over to a pit. Present-day visitors to Ponar can visit a number of these circular pits; all the others are identified as murder sites, but the pit we now approach is different. It has vertical, stone-clad walls and looks like this:
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Abe stands on the pit edge, taking photographs on his iPad as the guide explains that about eighty Jews, including Abe’s father, lived inside this pit and then dug an escape tunnel. It can be confusing, being here, hearing this story, because—as I’ll come to explain—almost nothing in this photo is exactly what it appears to be. Almost nothing helps a visitor understand what once happened here. Even with all the research I’d done, the first time I came here, much of what I thought I understood as I looked into this pit I would later come to realize I hadn’t understood at all.


After Abe and the rest of the party leave the pit area, we walk down a shallow slope and gather next to an imposing memorial. First Richard Freund, then two of the geophysicists who found the tunnel, Paul Bauman and Alastair McClymont, speak. Freund asks Abe Gol whether he would like to share some words.


Abe would. He explains that when he was growing up, his father was reluctant to tell him about what had happened here. “But bit by bit,” Abe says, “I did learn.” Once his father did explain, he continues, it was hard for a son to understand how anyone could have gone through that horror, yet come out the other side and appear to be living a normal life. Abe will finish his words this afternoon by saying “I really appreciate the opportunity to be here. And physically seeing what they had gone through.” And then he will pause, his voice breaking, before continuing: “From my point of view, there’s a lot of ache, a lot of emotion . . . and maybe closure.”


Before that, though, he refers to a particularly poignant moment in his, and by extension his father’s, life. It happened when Abe was a teenager in Florida in the early 1960s. It’s a moment that might stand as a stark preview, just one way that the story of this place might go adrift and tumble through the gaps of history.
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Shlomo Gol, 1961
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Abe Gol attended Andrew Jackson High School in Jacksonville. The year after the Gol family arrived in the United States, when Abe was fifteen, the teacher of his English class, Mr. Kelly, assigned the students to write a story in their own words. That gave Abe an idea. He explained to Mr. Kelly about a document of his father’s, written in Hebrew, in which his father had detailed his wartime experiences. Could Abe translate that for this assignment? Would that be okay?


Mr. Kelly said that should be fine.


When Abe told his father, Shlomo neither encouraged nor discouraged him. On the allotted day, Abe read out his translation in front of class, telling his father’s story in his father’s own words:




We were tasked now to construct living quarters for our own use, and those quarters were to be constructed in one of the bunkers that was not yet used as a mass grave.





Once Abe finished laying out the whole awful truth, Mr. Kelly had a question for the rest of the class: “Does Abe’s story sound believable to you?” Then he called for a vote. Those who believed the story should raise their hands.


Abe looked around his classmates, awaiting their validation for what he had just shared. For what his father, Shlomo Gol, had, by proxy, also just shared.


Just four hands were raised.


Naturally, Abe protested. “I said this is a true story, a story that had been corroborated by the courts in Nuremberg when the people responsible were put on trial. Do you still not believe me?”


The vote remained the same.


“They thought,” Abe will tell me, “there was no one in the world who could do something like that.”


That evening Abe told his father what had happened at school that day. Shlomo wasn’t surprised. “Not many people believe what happened,” he told his son.


One time—Abe isn’t sure whether it was that evening or another day—his father’s frustration did bubble over, just for a moment. To have lived through such torment, only to find that your specific kind of suffering doesn’t match contemporary expectations! To have survived an experience so intense and brutal, only to realize that you’d escaped into a world in which your story somehow didn’t seem to fit!


“I guess they would have believed you if you’d brought me to school and I’d shown off a number on my arm,” Shlomo told his son. “I guess I should have gone to Auschwitz or something like that. Maybe then they would have believed it.”





 


* Here I am listing the escapees’ names in the forms I will generally be using. The list as actually printed in the museum has the names in Lithuanian: Josifas Bielickas, Abramas Bliazeris, Ichokas Dogimas, Jurijus Farberis, Šlomas Golas, Dobydas Kantorovičius, Zalmanas Matkinas, Overseičikas, Konstantinas Potaninas, Morduchas Zaidelis, Adomas Zingeris, and Piotras Zininas.









PART I
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WARTIME









ONE


A place called Ponar.




[image: Illustration]







“Ponar was, in times of peace, a big forest . . . beautiful . . . lots of fruit, lots of birds. A real paradise. The people of Vilna came there for vacations and for fun, and the Jews came on Saturdays. There was life there. It was unusually alive. People had a good time there. Joy. It was like being in heaven.”


—DAVID KANTOROVICH, 1991





Jews had lived in Lithuania at least since the fourteenth century. Although they often endured in uneasy coexistence with those living alongside them, and suffered periods of significant turmoil and discrimination, Lithuania had proved a relatively stable home for them. By the beginning of the twentieth century, most Lithuanian towns had substantial, long-established Jewish communities. These roots went particularly deep in Vilna, which had become the predominant seat of Jewish culture and learning in Eastern Europe and was sometimes referred to as “the Jerusalem of Lithuania” or “the Jerusalem of the North.”


Meanwhile, through the centuries, Lithuania’s own borders, and its ability to be independent of powerful neighbors, had ebbed and flowed. In the aftermath of World War I, most of what is now Lithuania had been reestablished as an independent state, although a substantial eastern region, including Vilna, had been taken over by Poland. Then on August 23, 1939, a week before Nazi invasion of Poland triggered the start of World War II, as tensions mounted across Europe, Germany and the Soviet Union signed a nonaggression agreement, the Molotov-Ribbentrop pact, including a secret protocol in which the two signatories carved up control of the territory that lay between them. It effectively handed Lithuania over to the Soviet Union.* For a while this Soviet control was only implicit. In October 1939 the Soviet Union informed the Lithuanian government that it would allow a notionally independent Lithuania, one that would once again include Vilna and the area around it; in return, the Lithuanian government would agree to the presence of Soviet military bases and troops across the country. But on June 15, 1940, that veneer of independence was stripped away, and the Soviets formally took control.


One particular place where this would have immediate consequences was a small settlement in a forest next to a railway line: Ponar.
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Despite its apparent obscurity, Ponar has a history of its own that stretches far back. References to a settlement here can be found in the fourteenth century—the place’s name, in whichever iteration (Ponar, Ponary, Paneriai), refers to its proximity to the Neris River, which meanders just to the north. The first Catholic chapel in Lithuania is said to have been constructed in this forest, and toward the end of 1812, Ponar played a part in a major European conflict: on these wooded slopes, the rear of Napoleon’s Grande Armée, chaotically retreating from Moscow, was caught and ransacked by the Cossacks. Thousands of fleeing troops under French command are believed to have been killed here. Later, in 1861, the Russians completed the Paneriai tunnel through these hills—at the time, the longest tunnel in the Russian Empire—to speed rail travel between St. Petersburg and Warsaw. Tsar Alexander II traveled here to lay the final brick at the opening ceremony.


Mostly, though, the area was known as a beauty and relaxation spot, one within easy reach of city inhabitants looking for release and serenity. Its natural abundance had been considered significant enough to be worthy of study. In the 1938 book The Flora of the Ponar Mountains—“one of the richest corners of flora in Vilna is, without doubt, Ponar, near Vilna”—the author noted that, of the 1,250 varieties of flora that can be found in the whole region, 750 were found in Ponar. Likewise, a monograph published the previous year, Spring Aspects of Bees at Ponary in Vilnius, noted that seventy-three species had been observed here. The local microclimate was considered helpful in the treatment of respiratory diseases, particularly tuberculosis, and plans had been drawn up for the construction of a spa and hospital.


In fact, during the 1930s, the existing settlement of Ponar and the surrounding area was promoted as a “Spa-City-Garden near Vilnius.” A grid of forested lots was put on sale, and postcards were distributed, showing drawings that seem to depict a 1930s version of a futuristic eco-paradise. But these bright images, with their optimism about a better world in-the-making, didn’t show certain details. The new lots were subject to strict rules about ownership and use, and one of these rules—perhaps worth bearing in mind later when you consider the arguments of those who still maintain that anti-Semitism erupted suddenly in Lithuania, as if from nowhere, after the Soviet occupation in 1940—was that it was illegal to sell or lease any of this real estate to Jews.


These no-Jews strictures clearly didn’t apply to all the existing dwellings scattered deep into the surrounding forest. In the early summer of 1941—when war was raging across much of Europe but had yet to reach Lithuania—a seven-year-old boy, Samuel Bak, was sent to stay with his aunt Yetta and uncle Yasha in the Ponar woods. Bak, who would survive the war and become a celebrated artist—his paintings are known for their surreal but unremitting depictions of destruction—witnessed both how Ponar once was and the first stage of its metamorphosis.


“They lived among flowering meadows, beautiful trees, and small wooden country houses,” Bak would later reminisce, about his grandparents’ home. “The area was known for its pleasant summer weather. . . . I had there the most wonderful time. . . . I used to walk, with Yetta’s permission, in the nearby wood. . . . Berries and mushrooms grew abundantly in the vicinity of their dacha, and I used to collect them with passion.”


But then rumblings of change and disruption, both metaphorical and literal, became apparent. “A few weeks after my aunt and uncle settled there,” Bak said, “a gradually mounting sound of heavy machinery at work began invading our premises. Suddenly the birds seemed to have disappeared, and with them their beautiful singing. The neighbors told us that the Red Army was digging huge trenches for an underground fuel depot.”


What the occupying Soviet forces now did inadvertently primed Ponar to become the place where atrocities would soon unfold. In order to supply a new military aerodrome about two miles away at Kazbiejai, the Soviets fenced off a large area of the forest with barbed wire. Inside this fenced area they began to dig several deep circular pits, with trenches running between them. These pits were intended to hold tanks of aviation fuel; the trenches were for the pipelines. Once completed, each pit was to have vertical stone sides about four meters high, within which a fuel tank would be placed.


But that was not how these pits would be used.
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On June 22, 1941, Lithuania, as its inhabitants had known it, disappeared. That was the day the Germans launched Operation Barbarossa, their surprise invasion of the Soviet-occupied territories. The Lithuanian poet and writer Shmerke Kaczerginski, who turned out to be one of the most important chroniclers of what later happened, by chance happened to be in Ponar on that Sunday morning.


“As I was lying on the edge of the thick Ponar forest,” he later wrote, “I saw in the sky the first black steel crows with swastikas on their bellies.”


The Soviets never completed their fuel depot. No fuel tanks would ever be installed in that forest. But the basic structure of at least two of the pits—some say as many as four—had been completed as intended, with their vertical stone-clad sides in place. Work on the other pits was suspended in different stages of completion. Most of them were no more than deep holes dug in the sandy soil, with sloping sides that would have been backfilled later, after the internal stone walls were built.


German land forces reached the Vilna area on June 24. Were the Soviet soldiers stationed at Ponar caught as the German invasion sped eastward? Or were they among the many more who frantically retreated and so evaded capture? The record is unclear. We don’t know whether the Germans had to wage even the most perfunctory battle to take over this fenced-in Soviet military-industrial base, or whether they just strolled into an abandoned construction site in the woods. Nor is there any record of exactly when they realized just how well this place suited their needs. But it didn’t take long.


To appreciate what happened next—how unprecedented it was, and how far it surpassed even the darkest fears of the Jewish community—it’s necessary to remember that until this specific moment in late June 1941, the systematic genocide of European Jewry was yet to begin. Hitler’s anti-Semitism, and the entrenched anti-Semitism of the Nazi movement, had long been apparent. Jews had been targeted, disenfranchised, persecuted, attacked, displaced, robbed, imprisoned in camps, and corralled into ghettos. Along the way many had been killed. But until now, they had not been systematically murdered in large numbers. This—here in Lithuania, and elsewhere across Eastern Europe, as the Nazis moved eastward at the end of June 1941—was the beginning.*


Historians continue to debate exactly when and how this decision to shift from persecution to genocide was made. Had it long been the ultimate underlying Nazi agenda, or did it evolve opportunistically in response to the shifting circumstances of the wartime situation?† But in understanding what the Jewish population did and didn’t do in the wake of the Nazi invasion, it’s important to realize that, even given the hardships and prejudice and violence they had faced, both recently and in earlier centuries, there was no obvious precedent—neither elsewhere in Europe under Nazi occupation nor previously in history—for what would now happen.


Much later, after the full contours of the Holocaust became clear, people would sometimes, with the blinkered benefit of hindsight, wonder how the victims of an ongoing genocide could possibly have remained so oblivious for so long. But there were an abundance of good reasons for them not to have grasped what was really happening. For one thing, the available precedents suggested something different. By the time the Germans invaded Lithuania, the war in Western Europe was nearly two years old, and Germany had already occupied France, Denmark, Norway, Belgium, Luxemburg, the Netherlands, Greece, and much of Poland. While the Jews in these countries had often been singled out for extremely prejudicial, violent, and sometimes murderous treatment, and many had been placed in concentration camps or ghettos, they had not as yet been systematically slaughtered. Jews in Germany itself had been living under Nazi rule since 1933; the discrimination and torments they faced were evident, and many had escaped or emigrated, but for the most part those who remained were alive.


Likewise, in the many previous instances throughout history where Jews had been victimized, or faced pogroms, they had nonetheless not been subjected to a widespread genocide. Looking to the precedents of the past as a guide and cautionary lesson, the Jews living in Lithuania in the summer of 1941 might reasonably have expected that the current oppression, and the threat posed by the Nazis—however awful, cruel, and violent—was one more ugly moment that they would endure and outlast. Their difficulty in believing that what was happening around them was part of the deliberate wholesale extermination of European Jewry was not an act of irrational denial. It was the logical conclusion to draw from the past, both recent and distant.


The initial overt actions taken by the invading Germans seemed to fit that expected pattern, signaling an intention to suppress and dominate a living population. In Vilna, on June 25, the day after troops occupied the town, a list of rules for Jewish inhabitants was posted. They must wear a white armband with a yellow circle in the middle and a letter J on it; they must walk only on the road and not on the sidewalk, and always singly; they must shop only in the marketplace, not in stores, and only during designated hours; greeting and talking to Aryans was forbidden, as was entering Aryan houses, restaurants, and cafés; leaving the house after four p.m. was prohibited; they must hand over any valuables and gold. When the regulations further stipulated that those not obeying would be punished according to martial law, including the death penalty, the reasonable implication was that the Germans saw no need to go out of their way to kill those who were compliant.


In the days and weeks that followed, the rules kept changing, and their strictness escalated. Soon Jews had to wear the yellow patches on the chest, not on an armband. They were forbidden to use the city’s main thoroughfares and had to confine themselves to seventeen designated streets. Jews could not sell their furniture or even give it away. They were forbidden to work as solicitors, lawyers, barristers, notary publics, bankers, moneychangers, agents, middlemen, brokers, and other professionals, including in “any itinerant trade.” All Jewish property was to be registered and handed over on demand. These constraints continued to evolve and multiply, until in September all the Jews in the city were herded into two cramped ghettos in the center of Vilna, where they were effectively imprisoned.


It is hard to tell, in retrospect, how much this barrage of frequently changing, ever-more-restrictive rules reflected a deliberate, thought-out overall strategy on the Germans’ part, one calculated to keep the Jewish population continually off balance, less able to discern and react to a grand overall plan and intention, and how much it reflected an invading power improvising its way toward decisions it hadn’t quite yet made.* But evidently, right from the start of the Nazi occupation, the Germans were already cynically using deception and misdirection as a means of control and of disguising their true purposes, at least in some circumstances.


For example, when roundups and disappearances began in the very first days after the invasion, the Nazis purposefully circulated the story that those taken would be brought to a work camp. To bolster this illusion, they required those taken to bring a towel and soap with them. So when more specific rumors began to spread that those taken from Vilna might be transported somewhere in the forest at Ponar, it was easiest for people to suppose that this must be the secret location of the new German work camp.


Easier, anyway, than to imagine, and to believe, a far more terrible, still inconceivable, truth.




[image: Illustration]





Ponar was never a work camp. Those who were taken there found no employment waiting for them, just a speedy and brutal death. There is some fuzziness as to when the very first killings at Ponar took place, but certainly by the second week of July—little more than two weeks after the German invasion—people were being brought there to be killed in significant numbers every day. New arrivals were typically lined up in groups of six or ten or fifteen on the edge of one of the pits previously dug by the Soviets and shot, their bodies falling into the pit. Layer upon layer, the bodies would pile up. Whenever one pit was full, the killers would move on to an empty one nearby.


Ponar was far from the only place in Lithuania where such horrors were taking place. All over Lithuania, Jews were being rounded up, taken from their communities, and in most cases, led out of town to a secluded area, shot, then buried in man-made holes or, if the natural relief allowed it, ravines. A present-day research project, the Holocaust Atlas of Lithuania, identifies 239 such mass killing locations in the country. But Ponar, where mass killing would take place on a greater scale than anywhere else in Lithuania, was uniquely suited to its horrific new purpose. It offered the Nazis a series of hideous conveniences. At most other locations, the holes where bodies would be buried first had to be dug, often at gunpoint by those whose bodies would refill the void. But here at Ponar, a number of large pits, wide and deep enough to hold tens of thousands of bodies, had already been excavated for the expected Soviet fuel tanks. No advance preparation was required. Furthermore, these pits were in a secluded, forested location, one that was already securely fenced in, and they lay an ideal distance from Lithuania’s biggest city and its largest concentrated Jewish population. Ponar was close enough to be convenient, and easily accessible by foot, road, and rail, yet it was far enough away that the city population could neither hear nor readily find out about what was happening there. Ponar presented itself as a site ready-made for the Germans’ current needs.


Even as Vilna’s Jewish population shrank month by month, it took some time for those still alive to recognize what was happening. By the end of 1941, when well over half the Jewish population of Vilna, and perhaps as many as fifty thousand Jews in total, were already lying dead in the Ponar pits, there was little consensus among the remaining Jews about what had happened to the missing or what their absence might mean.


When evidence did begin to present itself, initially it was mostly ignored or disbelieved. After a few weeks, a small number of people turned up in the ghetto, all telling a version of the same seemingly implausible story: that they had been taken with others to Ponar, then had been lined up by the side of the pit for execution, and then had found themselves in the pit with all the other dead. Except that they weren’t dead, either because they had only been injured, or because they had tripped and fallen just as the bullet meant for them had been fired, or by some other miracle. After dark, they had made their escape and found their way back into the city.


Herman Kruk, who kept a diary in the ghetto that was published after the war, mentioned six such witnesses who turned up in the second half of 1941. These were all female, perhaps because those doing the shooting tended to leave the women and children till the end of the day; anyone who survived the shooting then was less likely to be buried and smothered by those yet to be shot. Some who visited these women in hospital, like Kruk and the future resistance leader Abba Kovner, clearly did believe what they heard. There is some evidence that the Judenrat, the Jewish leadership group that would organize the Jewish population within the ghetto and also liaise with their oppressors, imposed a policy that those who had such stories to tell should not spread them, not because the leaders didn’t believe them but because they did.*


But clearly, many of those who did hear these stories couldn’t imagine them to be true. Even in times where improbable new hardships seemed to arrive each day, this didn’t seem possible.


I learned of at least two other people who escaped from Ponar in those first months, both men. Later in this book I’ll return to the second one. But the first—in what now seems an improbable coincidence—was one of the twelve men who would subsequently be imprisoned in a Ponar pit and would escape through a tunnel he helped dig, so becoming the only person known to have escaped from Ponar twice.


His name was Abraham Blazer. The story of how he came to be standing on the edge of a pit at Ponar on December 6, 1941, in what he assumed was the final moment of his life, is also the story of how one particular Jewish family had tried to navigate their way through the increasingly cataclysmic world that was subsuming them.





 


* Historians would later discover that Lithuania had initially been assigned to Germany under the proposed pact. It was reassigned to Russia during a further secret renegotiation.


* The methodical widespread murder of Jews in Eastern Europe between the invasion in June 1941 and the first operation of a gas chamber at an extermination camp, Belzec, in March 1942 (following some small-scale use of mobile gas vans) has become known, in recent years, as the “Holocaust by bullets.” Over a million Jews were shot in this way before the extermination camp gas chambers went into operation.


† One landmark moment that is often identified is the Wannsee Conference, where practical plans for the Final Solution were formally shared among Nazi and SS leaders. But that took place on January 20, 1942, six months after the invasion of Eastern Europe. By then, most of the Jews in Lithuania were dead.


* One piece of circumstantial evidence in favor of this second view: initially those taken to be killed were almost exclusively adult men, which suggests a policy other than wholesale genocide. Then after a period, presumably reflecting a change in thinking, women and children were also taken.


* The more benign way to cast this would be to argue that they wanted to avoid panic over something that couldn’t be stopped; the less benign, that they wanted to maintain control, and that the stability of the ghetto relied on those within believing that they had something to live for.









TWO


A man who escaped twice.
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Photograph at the Ponar museum, next to text that begins “Abraham Blazer (1908—?)”










“You will probably not believe me, because what I will say will sound unbelievable. But believe me—what I tell you is the truth. I stared death in the eye on the 6th of December 1941. It clawed with sharp talons at my throat, but it didn’t succeed in taking me.”


—ABRAHAM BLAZER, 1946





When Abraham Blazer came to Vilna for the first time in 1934, he stopped a nineteen-year-old stranger on the street and asked her where he might be able to rent a room. He explained that he was from Katowice, in Poland; he worked in plastics and nylon manufacturing and was in town to show his wares at the Eastern trade fair. The nineteen-year-old replied that her family happened to rent out a maid’s room in their home. Blazer came around later to see the room and told the young woman that he’d take it. He also kissed her.


“Apparently he liked me, he gave me a kiss,” Hana Sher later described it. “I didn’t slap him. And then he left. He left, and I was left with the impression of this kiss.”


After Blazer moved into his new lodgings, the wooing continued, and soon the couple resolved to marry. At first Sher’s family firmly opposed the union. Then Hana fell seriously ill with some kind of contagious throat infection and a dangerously high fever. The doctors debated her chances of survival, and her family kept their distance, but Blazer sat at her bedside, holding her pillow as she coughed and spat out mucus. When she began to recover and expressed an urgent need for orange juice, Blazer—even though it was two in the morning—tracked down the home address of the only fruit store’s owner, awoke him, explained that it was an emergency, and persuaded the man to open up his store to sell Blazer some oranges.


After this, Hana’s family withdrew their objections. In May 1935 the couple married. The following September, 1936, their first son, Zvi, was born.


Blazer set up a workshop in Vilna, working in plastics and synthetic materials, and his wife Hana worked in the Office of Applications and Translations. The first jolt, the pre-tremor, was the arrival of the Soviets in 1940. Their current jobs were no longer viable, so Hana took on translating and typing work that she could do from home, and her husband found work in a newly nationalized opticians’ shop.


It wasn’t easy, but they were getting by, and later they’d wonder if their ability to weather this first difficult period had been a blessing or a curse. Perhaps it was their relative affluence that misdirected them: after the Soviets came, other people they knew fled the city and even the country. The Blazers realized in retrospect that if their situation had been more desperate, they might well have left, too. But in truth they were still doing fine, so they stayed put. Often those who suffer the most in times of great trouble are those who have the least to begin with, but sometimes it is those who have more to give up who cling on too long and find themselves stranded.


On the Sunday morning in June 1941 when German planes first appeared in the sky, Zvi, who was now nearly five, had just readied himself in his best clothes, his suitcase packed. He was heading off to a Jewish summer camp, just outside the city in the suburb of Antakalnis.


Then they heard the noise. It took a moment to realize what it was.


Bombs.


They couldn’t understand it—no one had been expecting the war to appear on their doorstep.


Naturally, they decided to stay home. Everyone in the building spent the night in the basement air shelter—everyone, that is, aside from Blazer. He slept in his mother-in-law’s room, where three air raid warnings failed to rouse him, but he came to no harm. Not everyone shared his luck. One of the casualties from that first day of bombing was a co-worker from the opticians’, who had left at six o’clock that morning to take a boat trip on the Wilja River. “German pilots were flying low over the river,” Blazer said, “and shot everybody taking part in that trip. There were about twenty boys and girls, and none of them came back. The first victims of the German invasion of Vilna.”


Blazer was clearly not a man reflexively taken to doing what he was told to do. In the days that followed, he would leave the house wearing the required armband, but he did so mostly for the benefit of the neighbors. Once he was out of sight, he’d slip the armband into his pocket and step onto the sidewalk. He figured he was one of the few Jews in Vilna who would be able to get away with this, as he later explained: “I look like an Aryan. My nose is not Semitic at all, my hair is brown, I speak pure Polish without a Jewish accent—my Polish accent is from the Krakow mountains region, hard with sharp pronunciation.”


Initially, his confidence seemed justified. He would get to work without any problems, and at the nearby stores he was able to buy the supplies—flour, sugar, chocolate, cocoa, dried fruit, fresh pork, canned meat—that were no longer available to customers identified as Jewish. Even so, he was aware that whatever fragile stability remained in the world around him was beginning to fracture.


Blazer later described the first roundups: “At that time, young Lithuanian men begin to appear in the streets. They are ‘the catchers,’ who take every Jew they encounter. They enter houses, searching the attics and the basements, asking Christian neighbors in which apartments the Jews live. The Lithuanians were paid ten rubles for every Jew caught.” These were the Jews who were told to bring soap and a towel with them.


For the time being, Blazer and his family managed to keep safe. When people came to their building and demanded of their Lithuanian neighbor where any Jews were living, the neighbor protected them, claiming that all the Jews had already been taken away. But eventually Blazer lost his job at the opticians’—the store manager was told that he was no longer allowed to employ Jews. More crucially, by losing his job Blazer lost his work certificate. Work certificates were the asset that allowed Jews in Vilna some minimal security, even if only imperfect and provisional. Now, without documentation, Blazer had to be even more vigilant.


In times like these, everyone was only one wrong decision away from calamity. To avoid the “catchers,” Blazer and his brother Henryk would secret themselves in a concealed pantry in their house, a space that had been built during World War I to hide food. One morning Henryk declared that he couldn’t hole up any longer. The word was that new work certificates were available at the Judenrat for labor at the peat bogs. Henryk left at five-thirty a.m. with a towel, soap, a piece of bread, and a change of shirt, ready for this new job. Five minutes later Abraham could hear trucks in the street outside, and the sounds of Jews being apprehended. It wouldn’t have mattered, Abraham later learned, if Henryk had already succeeded in getting a work certificate—that day they were taking everyone: “I never heard from my brother again.”
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Rumors then began to spread that the Germans intended to move all of Vilna’s Jews—or, rather, though this was yet to be widely understood, those who had so far avoided the trip to Ponar—into a ghetto. Abraham Blazer illegally sold off the family furniture and liquidated what assets he could. When, at seven o’clock one morning, his family, and the apartment building’s other Jewish inhabitants, were forced to leave, he was as prepared as one could be.


“We said a brief goodbye to the other tenants and walked out of the gate,” Blazer recounted. “My mother-in-law provided emotional support to everybody. She did not allow anybody to cry or lament, but to walk with their heads up, as Jews would also do when sentenced to death. . . . By chance, the Lithuanians escorting us were somewhat forgiving. They were not beating us or hurrying us, as was happening in other neighborhoods. I do not know whether it was because they were tired, or maybe they were not that sadistic.”


Other attitudes became evident. “We met some familiar Poles on our way,” Blazer remembered. “Some of them lowered their heads and did not look at us, as if they were also guilty. But most of them were laughing and ridiculing us, saying that this is good and should have happened ten years ago.” As they walked, they could hear people quarrelling over who should inherit this house or that house, this possession or that. “The feeling was dreadful,” Hana later recalled, “but it was forbidden to say anything out loud.”


The ghetto consisted of a few streets in the old Jewish quarter in the center of Vilna. Many homes had been vacated by those already killed at Ponar. In these new surroundings, Blazer at least managed to get his family settled fairly quickly, but they found themselves in a difficult situation:


“The first thought was to find any shelter, put down the child, and get some rest,” he later recounted. “There were already so many people in the ghetto, it was difficult to move around because there was no space. The apartments looked terrible. They were trashed and had broken windows because Poles and Lithuanians had been entering through the windows to rob and steal whatever was left by the murdered Jews. I managed to come to Żydowska Street and, with difficulty, found a place. The house was very big, with an additional building in the back and a huge courtyard, and when I entered the room with my family, other acquaintances of my mother-in-law followed us. I was glad that at least we would have some fresh air and it would not be too stuffy. It was four by four meters and occupied by fourteen people. But then the crowd of Jews got larger. Everybody was looking for a place to sit down or squat on the floor, and our pleas that another better place might be found somewhere else have no impact; eight more people came. Then, seeing some available space in the middle of the room, four more people came in, spread their bags, and sat on them in the middle. Even if somebody else wanted to squeeze in, there wouldn’t have been a place to stand, not to mention to sit or to lie down.”


It was cold in the crowded room, because of a broken window. Then, at five the next morning, the window was boarded up from the outside.


“And now,” Blazer summarized, “there were twenty-six people, without daylight and air.”


Hana was close to cracking. “She said that she wouldn’t be able to take it, and it would be better to die than to live like that,” Blazer recalled. “I was cheering her up, telling her that we cannot surrender and that the defeat of Germany—despite its military success—must come, that the war cannot last for a long time, and that we will survive all of them. Jews have survived such periods more than once.”


Initially the Blazer family were in what was known as the “small ghetto,” but Blazer decided that they would be better off in the other, bigger ghetto, a stone’s throw to the southwest. His wife argued against trying to move, but Blazer persisted, eager for them to be closer to the center of things. At first, it seemed like a mistake. They had to start all over again, in a place that was even more congested. Even so, Blazer had instinctively made the right decision. In the days that followed, the Germans began to make distinctions among the residents of the two ghettos. They concentrated those who were productive workers, and their families, in the large ghetto. (Blazer, who had managed to get a job on the railway tracks, qualified.) Those who had no such role were funneled into the small ghetto. Then, in October 1941, the Germans methodically liquidated the small ghetto, taking its inhabitants to Ponar and to their deaths.


In the remaining ghetto, some Jews assumed that as long as they played a useful role, doing jobs that the Germans required, they would now be safe. Blazer later claimed to have always intuited that this would not be so, and he began to search for a sanctuary outside the ghetto. To this end, through a man with whom his wife had worked at the district court, Blazer somehow contrived to get a Soviet passport from a Lithuanian in the passport department. It was issued, using Blazer’s photograph, in the name of Adam Graczewski. He started sneaking out of the ghetto, counting on his Polish looks and his Soviet passport to stave off trouble. On one sortie, Blazer connected with a tuberculosis doctor who agreed to mark Blazer down as having been ill since 1936 and needing to be sent to a spa.


Soon afterward Blazer successfully slipped out of the ghetto with his wife, who now had her own Soviet passport, and took a horse-drawn wagon to the town of Niemenczyn, about forty kilometers outside Vilna. There Blazer entered a lodging place—crossing himself in the Christian manner as he did so, as a Polish man would—and spoke with the landlord while his wife waited outside. After he showed the landlord his papers and doctor’s note, the landlord welcomed him, saying that it was too late to complete the registration that night, but they could move in right now and finish the formalities in the morning. A safe haven at last.


Blazer then asked his wife to join them, and when she did, the whole plan fell apart. That was how it was: you could feel close to safety, then the ground would fall away beneath you. “As soon as she came in,” Blazer said, “he recognized right away that she was Jewish. Of course, she could not change her Semitic face. And the landlord began explaining that he would like to help us but he cannot because he is afraid.”


The landlord explained that his fear was more than hypothetical—another landlord he knew had been caught hiding a Jew, and in retribution, his whole family had been executed, his house burned down. If it had just been Blazer . . . but with Hana, it was impossible. Everyone would know. “He advised me to leave that place,” said Blazer, “because even if the documents are Polish, the face is Semitic, so it will not work. If I went with my wife to register, they would certainly arrest us.”


They had no option but to head back to Vilna. The landlord gave them cheese, bread, and butter for the road, and as it was too late to hire a wagon, they started walking. After about two hours, a wagon appeared alongside them, and the driver offered a ride. Only after accepting did Blazer notice a Lithuanian sitting there in the shadows of the wagon’s interior, a firearm in his hand. The man asked Blazer to identify himself. “I didn’t get scared,” Blazer said. “I showed him the documents and explained that I needed to be in Vilna by the morning to get to work, and since we could not get a wagon, we were walking by foot. He let us climb into the cart, and we rode. Then the Lithuanian told me that he’d thought we were some Jews hiding by the road.” Blazer laughed, as seemed wisest, and his new acquaintance remarked that he had already caught several Jews hiding in these parts. Hana leaned on her husband, pretending to be asleep, but Blazer could feel her shaking.
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Not long after they’d returned to the city, Blazer’s luck ran out. “I saw three people walking on the sidewalk on the other side of the street,” he said. “Two of them approached me, and the third one remained in place, pointing his finger at me. I understood right away what was happening, but there was no possibility of running away. One of them flipped his lapel, showed me the secret police badge, and asked for documents. They were fine, but the agents said that despite me having valid documents, they had to take me to the precinct. One of them pulled out a gun.”


Blazer knew he was in a kind of trouble that there might be no getting out of. “When they brought me to the Gestapo building, those two searched my pockets and took everything that was there: a watch, two rings, a fountain pen, a hundred dollars, three gold ten-ruble coins and other small items. They stripped me naked, and I could not lie anymore.” No Soviet passport could outweigh the evidence that Blazer’s own body offered: “They saw that I am a Jew because I was circumcised. A wave of blows poured on my naked body until I fell unconscious, bruised and beaten up. I regained consciousness when they poured a bucket of cold water on me.”


All that was just prequel. When the actual interrogation began, they wanted to know who had made his passport. Blazer made up a story about having been approached by a Pole on his way to work at the railway. He said this Pole had offered to make him a passport for 2,000 rubles. “I was very happy with this ‘truth,’ ” Blazer remembered, “and I even started to believe myself that it happened this way.” His interrogators were less impressed. After Blazer failed to identify this mystery Pole in a book of photographs, the real violence started. It continued for the next three days.


That was how, in mid-November 1941, Blazer was consigned to Lukiškės prison. The requisite papers were signed by Aleksandras Lileikis, the province chief of the Lithuanian Security Police, and sent to the chief of Lukiškės State Prison:




I am forwarding to you the Jew ABRAHAM BLAZER, who is accused of escaping from the ghetto with a counterfeit passport. I ask that you hold him in jail at the disposition of the German Security Police in Vilnius.





Bureaucratic records left behind by the Nazis and their accomplices are notorious for their euphemisms. A phrase like “at the disposition of the German Security Police in Vilnius” feigns some kind of anodyne administrative innocence, but its real meaning was perfectly clear. Every Jew in the Vilna ghetto effectively lived each day with a noose around their neck, and Abraham Blazer’s had just tightened.


From prison, Blazer received messages from his wife, telling him she was doing all she could to get him out. On the morning of December 6, he was still holding out hope that these machinations would bear fruit, and so when the warden called his name and told him to bring everything with him, and he signed some documents and lined up with a row of other men, as instructed, Blazer imagined that everything had been worked out and that he was going back to the ghetto.


Instead, a Lithuanian with a whip came in and began hitting everyone. Then they were all herded outside, where a line of four or five trucks awaited. “I had the ‘honor’ to be loaded into the first truck,” Blazer noted. With him in this truck were twenty or so other prisoners. Their truck formed a convoy with the others, heading out of the city.


Nobody was under any illusions now.


“We understood that this would be our last journey,” Blazer said, “yet had no way to save ourselves. We couldn’t even think about our fate because we were already almost dead.”


In next to no time at all—“It probably took no more than ten minutes”—they reached an area in the forest, surrounded by barbed wire. The final thread of self-delusion, any fanciful hopes that they might be somehow heading to a work camp, dissolved. They knew where they were.


This was Ponar.


They were ordered to get out of the truck. “I felt inside such a helplessness, such a numbness,” Blazer said. He knew he should be doing something to fight his fate, but the situation had an awful surreality. Even though his life was nearing its certain end, he found himself paralyzed. “It was impossible to put my thoughts together and to have the courage to oppose in any way,” he said. “I was so fogged that I did not know, did not understand, what was happening around me.” So he just did as he was told. “There was no time to think—what was happening now happened so quickly that there was not a minute left for thoughts.”


Blazer could see the pits ahead, pits in which many already had met their fate. He just wanted to get it over with: “It was clear that many thousands of our brothers were lying in there, and we wanted to join them quickly. I’m not joking. When you’re looking death in the eyes, you look forward to a quick end, because thinking about death is worse than suffering through it.”


He and the rest of the prisoners from his truck were made to lie face down in a long trench. When Blazer lifted his head, just for a second, not even with time to turn and look around, one of the guards beat him down with his bat. Then the prisoners were ordered back to their feet and to move along the trench toward the chosen pit. At the end of the trench, they received new instructions. Even though the temperature was well below freezing, they were told to remove their clothes; any hesitation earned a new beating. “These ‘people,’ ” Blazer later noted, “did not let us die with dignity.” The degree of nakedness required of each man depended on the quality of the clothing he was wearing. Everyone had to strip to the waist, but only those with desirable underwear were told to get completely naked. Because Blazer’s prison underwear and socks were so dirty, torn, and ragged, he was allowed to keep them on.


Ahead of him, he saw how it would be. Men were being taken six at a time and ordered to march past the end of the trench into a deep round pit, walking over the bodies of those already shot. On a raised mound in the middle of the pit, six Lithuanians waited, rifles in hand. Six prisoners lined up, each in front of his own killer. The command was shouted out in Lithuanian. Six shots were fired. Six men fell.


And then six more men moved into place. No one screamed or cried out.


Blazer’s group was the fifth to go forward. The Poles in his group made the sign of the cross and muttered, “In the name of the Father . . . and the Son.” The other Jews prayed—“Sh’ma Yisrael” (Hear, O Israel)—and Blazer did the same. He thought of his wife and his child, and his mother-in-law and how she had been as good to him as his own mother, and he thought of his parents and how they must have died just like this, and then a stray thought entered his head, something he remembered from a Yiddish book he’d once read: A minut tzu nacht is noch nisht nacht, a sekunda far dem toit iz men noch nisht kein meis (A minute before night is not yet night; a second before death, you are not yet a dead person).


But they were just words. Blazer stood there, looking straight ahead, unable to see even who was to his left or to his right. He wasn’t screaming; he wasn’t crying. He was calm, because in his mind he was dead already. Just waiting—waiting for, as he said, the bullet that would “bring this pitiful ghetto existence to an end.”


The shots fired, as they had to, and Abraham Blazer fell, as he also had to.
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But somehow, just as on rare other occasions at these pits in this forest, these two events—the firing of the bullet and the falling of the man—became uncoupled. The shot had been fired, and the man had fallen . . . yet these two events were not connected in the way that they were expected to be. When the shot that was supposed to kill Abraham Blazer was fired, its intended victim had fallen. But he had not fallen because he had been shot. He had not fallen because a bullet had passed into him and taken his life. He had just fallen.


“To this day,” he would say, toward the end of his life, “I cannot explain how it happened. Whether it was by accident, or was intentional, or was simply a miracle directed by God’s hand.”


But by whichever way, it had happened. And now, in the moment after his death but somehow still alive, he just lay there.


“After a few seconds, I felt freshly shot bodies falling on top of me. . . . I felt warm. It was the blood that was warming me up.”


He just lay there.


Lying in his underwear, in the snow, covered by the dead and their blood.


“I wondered whether I was wounded, but I did not feel anything. No pain.”


Just lay there.


Listening.


“I heard it all and felt it all. Batch after batch, falling into the pit.”


Abraham Blazer remained on his side, his forehead on his elbows. When, eventually, he dared to open his eyes, with one eye he could see half of the top of the pit. There stood a few Germans and Lithuanians, and also something on a tripod; whatever it was, periodically someone looked through it. Blazer heard the men around the pit say that someone was moving, and one of the Lithuanians fired a shot into the pit. That was when Blazer realized that what was on the tripod was some kind of magnifying scope and that they were checking the pile of bodies for survivors.


Blazer didn’t move. By then so much weight was pressing down on him from the dead piled above that he wondered whether he could move even if he had been foolish enough to try. Risking another look, he saw a woman, a later victim whose bullet had also missed her, stand up naked in the pit and ask the soldiers whether, as the bullet had spared her, she might now escape. The Lithuanians, who were drinking vodka in cups they refilled from a barrel, laughed at her and her foolishness and asked her where she thought she would be able to go, naked like that. She took two steps, and they shot her.


Blazer also saw what happened to three generations of a single family. A woman, maybe twenty-five, had also fallen in the pit without being shot, but her mother had been killed, so she shouted at the killers, in despair or defiance, “You’ve killed my mother, kill me too.” They obliged. But she was also holding her child, maybe a year old, in her arms. Blazer listened to the child, now caught under its mother’s body, screaming and crying. The killers did nothing about that. Blazer heard them agreeing with each other that it would be a waste of a bullet.


Blazer just lay there.


And as he lay there, he was right where he was, but he was also somewhere else—in some provisional place few people will ever know, neither dead nor alive, neither still here nor quite gone.


“I started,” he said, “losing my mind.”


Yet, even as his mind went astray, and even as he lost all track of time, somehow, through it all, he kept count of what happened at the pit. Six at a time, ninety-six times.


“I counted 576 victims.”


Or perhaps more precisely, 575 victims and a man named Abraham Blazer.


Much later, after the sun set and the shooting finally stopped, Blazer could hear drunken soldiers going through the discarded clothes of those they had murdered, dividing up the day’s loot. Eventually these soldiers were relieved by two other Lithuanians, there to keep watch over the pit.


Now freezing, Blazer gathered every last piece of energy he had and tried, at last, to see whether he could move. It took all his strength, but he managed to roll out from under the bodies above him. He could see the Lithuanians, not far away, but their backs were turned, and they didn’t see him creep out of the pit.


Aside from the blood speckles and stains, Blazer’s body was white, and he figured that he wasn’t too easy to see against the snow.


After he made it over the nearest hill, he started running. “I ran,” he said, “as I have never run before.”


Some way from the pit, Blazer came to a barbed-wire fence. After what he had just been through, that wasn’t going to stop him, and he simply forced his near-naked body through it. “Injured my hands, feet, and shoulders severely,” he said. But he made it. There were three more fences, and he got through them all. He was undressed, and barefoot, and frozen, and bloody, and exhausted.


He needed help.
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Blazer gave different accounts, at different times, of what happened next. He must have had his reasons. Perhaps, especially just after Lithuania’s liberation from the German forces, he was trying to obscure his savior’s identity—the Nazis were gone, but that didn’t guarantee that what was to follow would be uncomplicated for those who’d endured. Also maybe Blazer sometimes figured it was best just to tell it simply, but at other times he wanted to tell it all.


Here, anyway, are three versions of what happened immediately after Abraham Blazer escaped from Ponar—all with overlapping details, all told by Blazer himself, but each one different.


Story one: The simplest. Abraham Blazer said that he came across a woman in the forest and that she took him back to her house to warm up and eat some food.


Story two: Abraham Blazer knocked on the door of a house, where he found a Polish man called Falkowski. Blazer chose this dwelling, and not the fancier one nearby, figuring that the shoddier the house, the better his chances.


“The poor Polish man almost fainted of shock when I entered,” Blazer said, “but a couple of words were enough to explain what had occurred. He gave me hot water, and I drank and ate something, and then I started feeling that my legs had frozen. My hands and cheeks were in the same state. The Polish man gave me his bed. That night I lay there half-dead, half-alive, not remembering what had happened or where I was, until about six a.m.” In the morning, the man dressed Blazer in some of his clothes and helped him find a way back into the ghetto and to his wife and child.


Whether or not this man had initially acted out of selflessness, he was afterward well rewarded. “I sent this farmer a lot of money for his humane act,” said Blazer. “It was only because of him that I returned to the land of the living.”


Story three: After making his way through the last of the Ponar fences, Blazer reached a road. Hearing a wagon coming, he hid in a ditch. From this vantage point, he noticed the wasted state of the horse pulling the wagon. Surely, he decided, the driver must be a Polish peasant. Deciding to take a chance, he jumped out from his hiding place and asked the man which way along the road led to Vilna.


At the sight of this blood-smeared, injured, near-naked man before him, the farmer made the sign of the cross. “Did you escape from Ponar?” the farmer asked. He surely already knew the answer.


He indicated where Blazer should head and offered a blessing—“May God protect you . . . go safely”—and went on his way.


Blazer ran in the direction he’d been shown. But his legs were burning and stinging, and he could feel the frost on his back and on his face, ears, and hands. He realized that he needed to take another, bigger risk. He turned back to some modest dwellings that he’d previously passed by because they had dogs. He ruled out a large house—they’d be sure to denounce him. But then he saw a smaller house, apparently dog-free, smoke billowing from its chimney, a kerosene lamp burning inside, and something told him this was the place.


He quietly opened the door without knocking. An elderly woman, standing with her back to the door, was fixing the fire in the stove. From her reaction to the sound of his entrance, she clearly assumed it was her son returning home.


Then Blazer said, “Good evening.”


The woman turned and opened her mouth to scream, but at the sight of this man, naked and bloody, no sound came out. Blazer moved toward the stove to warm himself up, and she edged toward the door, praying and crossing herself. Blazer, asking her to not make a noise, explained that he had escaped from Ponar and that he just needed to get warm and then he would leave.


Calming down, she locked the door and told him she’d heard all the shooting at Ponar that day, as they often could from here. She told him she couldn’t bear the sound, and that whenever it started up, she had to cover her ears with a pillow. Then she fetched Blazer a bowl of water to wash himself and helped him to do so, changing the water a few times.


“I sensed,” Blazer later reflected, “she was an angel, not a human being.”


Once he finished washing, he dried himself, and the woman sat him down beside the stove. He took stock of how modest this single-windowed home was. There was a small wooden table, two small benches, a broken bed in the corner, a hay mattress behind the stove, a broken cradle next to another bed, a tiny old kitchen cabinet, and nothing else. The woman apologized to him that she had no bread but said she would bake some.


Blazer was hidden behind the stove when the woman’s son came in, returning from his job as a locksmith in the railroad workshop. His name was Janek. He was accompanied by his wife, Maria, and he was holding his young son in his arms. Surprised when his mother locked the door behind him, he said to her, “Are you afraid of the ghosts from Ponar? They won’t come here—we’re too poor.”


“Not ghosts,” she said. “A man who is alive came to us from Ponar. He has just washed himself because he was covered in blood, and we can’t wash the child because there is no water left. He is sitting behind the stove.”


While the wife sat on the bed with their boy, Janek instructed Blazer to come out and show himself. Then when Janek saw the state that Blazer was in, he apologized, explaining that the overalls and trousers he was wearing, and the jacket hanging up, were his only clothes. Otherwise he would have given Blazer something. In passing, he mentioned that he had declined recent opportunities to add to his wardrobe, opportunities not unrelated to Blazer’s predicament. “I see a lot of things on the road on my way to and from work,” Janek told Blazer. “Bags dropped by Jews. But I couldn’t use anything that came from those martyrs.”


Janek urged his wife to get some flour and cook some noodles for their accidental guest. “It’s obvious he’s hungry,” he said. She pointed out that this would use up the last bit of flour they were saving for Janek’s breakfast. If she cooked that now, she said, he would go to work hungry tomorrow. Janek told her they’d manage somehow. “Maria,” he said, “we will not die if we do not eat breakfast tomorrow, and God will give us more flour during the day, but we need to give food to this man.”


So Maria made up two bowls of noodles. Blazer ate from one, and they also gave him some of the sugar they had saved for their child. The four of them ate from the other bowl.


After dinner, his legs hurting and beginning to swell, Blazer discussed his situation with Janek. Janek agreed to leave the house with him at half past three in the morning and to escort him back to Vilnius. To get around the problem that there were only enough clothes for one person, Janek would wear his overalls, and Blazer would wear the trousers and jacket and cap. Once they reached the ghetto, Blazer would sneak in, and then he would send someone out with Janek’s clothes. After that, Janek could go to work at seven in the morning, dressed as usual. That was the plan.


A few hours later Janek woke him to get dressed. Blazer tried to put on Janek’s shoes, but his feet were too swollen. Improvising, they wrapped Blazer’s feet in rags instead, over which he wore some galoshes. When they made their way as arranged, Janek in front, Blazer behind, Blazer discovered that he could only hobble slowly. Too slowly. By the time they reached the ghetto, it was eight o’clock. Everybody had already gone to work—and with few people around, Blazer had no easy way to slip in. Keeping some distance from the ghetto entrance while he wondered what to do, Blazer ran into a group of Jews and shared his predicament. (Or part of it. He told them he had been in the forest, not that he’d been at Ponar.) One of them had an extra patch that would identify him as Jewish, and they smuggled him through the ghetto entrance.


Blazer was in so much pain—“I was walking like a cripple; I had to lean against the wall all the time”—that it took him another half hour to travel the short distance from the ghetto entrance to his room. As he edged his way, everyone was looking at him, and he could tell from their faces what they saw. “It seemed that in the whole existence of the ghetto, they’d never seen someone who looked like the living dead. The sight of me was so terrifying that people were crossing over to the other side of the street.”


When Blazer entered the apartment where his family were living, at first they and the others there just looked at him. They didn’t know who this man was and were scared even to ask.


“We saw a beggar,” Hana would later recall, remembering the moment. “A beggar, completely bearded, with some weird hat and pale face and rags.”


Finally Blazer’s aunt asked this stranger what it was that he wanted, and Blazer replied he wanted to sit down for a while. It was only then, only when he spoke, that his wife realized who this man was.


Blazer told her he couldn’t explain immediately, that he’d tell her all about it later, but that right now a Polish man was waiting by the church. He took off the jacket, trousers, and cap and got 2,500 rubles that his wife had just received back from someone who had failed to bribe Blazer’s way out of prison. His mother-in-law went to the gate and paid a Jewish policeman to take the clothes and money to Janek.


In the room, Blazer couldn’t walk even one step more. The doctor came and said he needed to be in hospital. He was taken there by stretcher. At first the doctors told Hana that her husband would be permanently disabled; eventually they realized that he might recover in time, though skin would have to be removed from his legs, right down to the ankles. He didn’t begin to walk for another five weeks. While he was in the hospital, slowly recuperating, his wife brought him food from home because the hospital food was so bad. Twice she didn’t come—the family were in hiding during one of the periodic German purges—and Blazer feared the worst. But they survived, and he recovered.


As Blazer regained his strength, all the ghetto doctors gathered around his bed and asked him to tell them about where he had just come from. Everyone wanted to hear it for themselves. Even so, Blazer soon realized that not everybody was prepared to believe what he told them. “Although I was not the first one to return from Ponar,” he said, “it was hard to believe that it was really like that there, and that everything was true.”









THREE


In the Vilna ghetto.




“Let us not go like lambs to the slaughter!


Jewish youth, do not believe the perpetrators. Of the 80,000 Jews of the Jerusalem of Lithuania only 20,000 have remained. . . .


All the roads of the Gestapo lead to Ponar, and Ponar is death!


Throw away illusions. Your children, husbands and wives are all dead. Ponar is not a camp—everyone was shot there.


Hitler has plotted to murder all of the Jews of Europe. The Jews of Lithuania are doomed to be first in line.


Let us not go like lambs to the slaughter! . . .


Resist! Resist to the last breath.”


—ABBA KOVNER, EXTRACTS FROM A SPEECH IN THE VILNA GHETTO, IN THE EARLY HOURS OF JANUARY 1, 1942





Abba Kovner was only twenty-three when he spoke in a ghetto soup kitchen to a gathering of the incipient underground resistance. A new year was just beginning. It had been six months since the German invasion, and most of the Jews who had been in Vilna when the Nazis arrived were now unaccounted for, but the truth about what had happened to them was still not widely accepted. Kovner, even addressing the young activists assembled here, knew that his audience—“those 150 pairs of tear-filled eyes in the darkness,” as he later described them—still required convincing. One of those present on that night, Littman Moravtchik, who would become an underground organizer, later described how Kovner’s words had blindsided him. “Ponar means death, and it hit me like a ton of bricks,” Moravtchik said. “I was in shock: Ponar means death.”


Kovner’s speech, which was later surreptitiously circulated as a printed manifesto not just in its original Yiddish but also in Hebrew, Polish, and Lithuanian, is considered a landmark moment in the slowly emerging awareness of the Nazis’ full genocidal agenda, partly because it did more than shatter specific illusions about Ponar and the fate of Vilna’s Jews. It went some distance further, and what it said was remarkable in a way that might not be immediately apparent to the present-day reader. Kovner’s assertion that “Hitler has plotted to murder all of the Jews of Europe” seems so matter-of-fact to twenty-first-century ears that it takes some effort to hear these words as they sounded to someone in Eastern Europe at the beginning of 1942. For Jews in a place like Vilna, it was challenging enough to recalibrate their sense of what was possible so that they might comprehend the specifics of what was being done to them and those around them. But Abba Kovner went way beyond that, deducing from what had been happening locally that the Nazis had a continent-wide plan to eradicate the Jews of Europe. Not only was this thinking not commonplace when Kovner expressed it, it was a conclusion that very few had yet reached.


Indeed, some of the little evidence available suggested that Kovner might be wrong. Even those in the Vilna ghetto who acknowledged the bleak reality of the Ponar death pits could point to information that had trickled through about the relatively stable long-term ghetto populations in the Polish cities of Warsaw and Bialystok, where no large-scale methodical killings had yet occurred. They could believe—as leaders of the Warsaw ghetto did when an envoy from Vilna arrived to warn them—that what had been happening in Vilna was the aberration. The required leap—seeing the extermination of Vilna Jewry not only as a local tragedy but also as part of a wider, systematic plan, the leading edge of a genocide—was a huge one.
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Ignorance about what the Nazis were actually doing—about the initial stages of what would become known as the Holocaust—was not limited to those shut off within Eastern European ghettos.


This wartime news article from The New York Times might, at first glance, seem moderately informative:




VILNA MASSACRE OF JEWS REPORTED
60,000 Slain in Two Weeks by Police Under Nazis, Polish Refugee in Sweden Says


Sixty thousand Jews of Vilna were put to death between May 7 and May 20 by the German-controlled police, according to reports brought here by a Pole, who said he was in Vilna until May 24. He arrived in Stockholm a few days ago with an account of escaping from the Nazis by way of Warsaw and Gdynia, where he hid himself aboard a ship bound for Sweden.


The Polish refugee’s story of the Vilna massacre, of which he said he was an eye-witness, is impossible to confirm now.


He said members of the special Lithuanian police, recruited from Germans in Lithuania and Lithuanian Quislingists, started persecuting Jews and Poles immediately after Berlin’s announcement of the so-called autonomous status of the Baltic States at the end of April.


Until then 80,000 Vilna Jews were concentrated in two ghettos, the old ghetto near the German quarter and a new one in the Bakshta quarter of the city. After the announcement of the new status all the Jews were sent to the Bakshta ghetto, the Pole stated.


On May 7 the executions started, he said. The Jews, men, women and children, were taken from sundown to dawn in trucks to the suburb of Ponary, where they were mowed down by machine-gun fire. The executions continued every night until May 20, the Pole related, and during the day members of the Lithuanian police collected and sold the clothing of their victims.


The Polish refugee said that about 20,000 Jews of “useful professions” such as physicians and scientists and specialized workers, escaped execution and that the number of the victims was estimated in Vilna to be up to 60,000. No German military or Gestapo men were seen taking part in the executions, but neither did they interfere, he said.
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Based on the events I have so far described, this report could be considered a fairly reasonable first draft of what had been taking place. Until, that is, you look more closely. The article talks of sixty thousand Jews dying in fourteen days in May 1942. It was published on June 16, 1942. By that time, many of those supposedly recent deaths had already been rotting in the Ponar pits for nearly a year. Yet even this story, relaying events that had actually happened many months earlier, was being presented only tentatively—“impossible to confirm now”—and without any sense that the deaths were part of a wider pattern.


The Times’s coverage of this aspect of the war in Europe had its own particular shortcomings,* but this June 16 article—both in what it reported and its provisional tone—was fairly typical in its reflection of how little was generally known. Only in mid-1942, a year after the Germans moved eastward, did even a piecemeal and provisional picture begin to emerge.


Consider this: three days before publishing this article on June 13, 1942, The New York Times had reported that Joseph Goebbels, the Nazi minister for propaganda, had threatened to carry out a mass extermination of the Jews in retaliation for Allied bombing of German cities. Their article quoted Goebbels as saying: “The Jews are playing a frivolous game and they will pay for it with the extermination of their race in all Europe and perhaps even beyond Europe.” If that sounded at the time like an explicit announcement of Nazi intent, in retrospect it is also a stark demonstration of how little was known about what the Nazis had already long been doing—and of how well aware Goebbels was of this ignorance. With contemptuous audacity, he was threatening, as a retaliation, an act that had been underway for nearly a year before the events he was now claiming as its provocation.*




[image: Illustration]





To return to the Vilna ghetto and Abba Kovner, the true wonder is not that Vilna’s Jews didn’t realize sooner what was happening in Nazi-occupied Eastern Europe, but that even one of them managed, this early, to successfully intuit that their local anguishes fit into a ghastly genocidal jigsaw. It was ironic, then, that in the same period as Kovner began to persuade people around him of this truth—in early 1942 an underground resistance organization, the FPO (Fareynegte Partizaner Organizatsye, or United Partisan Organization), was formed, gathering weapons and strategizing how to fight back—circumstances in the ghetto seemed to change in a way that could have been seen to support the view that Kovner might indeed be wrong after all.


It wasn’t that life in the Vilna ghetto suddenly became easy. Its inhabitants still faced constant jeopardy, and the very manner in which they were forced to live—imprisoned, corralled, persecuted—was as morally abhorrent as ever. But, compared to what had been before, the ghetto was entering a period of relative stability. For now, the extensive roundups and culling of the population—the periodic “actions,” as they were known—ceased. As difficult as life remained, it was possible to imagine that the worst was over. One inhabitant of the ghetto, reflecting later on this period of insecure calm, said it seemed “as if the fascist monster had fallen asleep after devouring so many victims.”


The person who spoke those words was another of the twelve future Ponar escapees, Yitzhak Dogin. He was born in Vilna to parents who ran a successful bar. They wanted him to become a bank clerk, but from a young age his interests lay elsewhere. At sixteen, he took a day job at a lithographic print shop, where he worked alongside the poet and future Ponar chronicler Shmerke Kaczerginski, but he was particularly fascinated by radios and antennae, and in the evenings he studied electromagnetics. He was also a member of Hashomer Hatzair, the secular Zionist youth movement, where he fell under the guidance of the charismatic Abba Kovner. For recreation, Dogin liked to go on cycling trips outside Vilna, which gave him intimate knowledge of the local landscape.
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Yitzhak Dogin, center, on a bicycle trip, 1938
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As one uncovers the contours of lives like Dogin’s—people who would endure a series of overwhelming ordeals and somehow survive even against odds stacked so heavily against them—it’s hard to resist seeing signs of the uncanny. Dogin’s story offers rich temptation. In particular, his skills in electricity, wiring, and circuitry, and his knowledge of the intricate geography of the Vilna area, would prove crucial.


Should congruences like these—that a man would find himself in an extreme situation and happen to have the skills and knowledge most needed to survive it—give us pause? How might we best judge them? As nothing but random and meaningless flukes, a reminder that when you sift through enough raw information, you eventually find what look like strange coincidences? Or as a sign that some kind of divine hand is at work? Or is there a more mundane lesson here, one related to human adaptability—about how, in our most desperate moments, all any of us can do is to use whatever we have to solve the problems we face?


Or are we to understand certain episodes of survival against the odds as no more than the inevitable answer to a brutal mathematical or Darwinian equation: that, by definition, those with the specific skills that could help them survive are most likely to live to tell the tale of their survival?
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Yitzhak Dogin was twenty-five years old when the Germans arrived in Vilna. After the ghetto was established in September 1941, his extended family group—including his parents, his mother, his three sisters, and his two brothers-in-law—found an attic room on the fourth floor at 10 Strashuna Street. There Dogin busied himself with creating a secret space that might offer them some protection.


The Nazis had created the Vilna ghetto as a place of internment. Its inhabitants repurposed it as a place of concealment. The visible ghetto came to contain another ghetto within it, a kind of shadow version of the original. There was the official population of the ghetto, and then there was its shadow population—those not included on any official record or tally. Likewise, there was the official geography of the place, and there was a shadow geography. At the heart of the shadow geography were the secret hiding places that became known by the obscure Yiddish word maline.


Malines were constructed anywhere and everywhere there was some usable space that, at first glance, might seem not to exist. Such spaces were concealed under floors, or above ceilings, or behind furniture, or in wall cavities, anywhere large enough, but well enough disguised, that people might remain undetected. All over the ghetto, clandestine plans were made and refuges prepared. Yitzhak Dogin built a maline for his family behind a cupboard. It was two by three meters and could be closed from the inside by two wires.


Soon enough, it faced its first test. One day the Gestapo demanded that all those with work certificates leave the ghetto so it could search the empty buildings for anyone who shouldn’t be there. Even though Dogin had a certificate, he chose to remain in the maline with most of his family. He later described what happened: “I pulled the two wires, closed the door. All that dreadful day we stood behind the cupboard, in terrible crowdedness, eighteen people, just like sardines in a tin can. There was almost no air. All this time, we heard searchers inside the house, and sometimes shouts were heard. At night, it became silent. We went out, air came in, we drank water. In the morning we went back into the hiding place. None of the small children said a word. They were sick and hungry, but even the two-year-old girl understood and was silent.”


No one found them. After three days, it was safe for the maline’s occupants to come out. This time they had survived.
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As Abraham Blazer slowly recovered from the injuries he’d suffered during his improbable escape from Ponar, he faced a new problem, one he would have to solve if his reprieve was to prove more than temporary. To live openly in the Vilna ghetto, Blazer needed one of the increasingly scarce work certificates. But “Abraham Blazer” had no way to get a work certificate because sooner or later someone would realize that he had been sentenced to death—indeed that, according to the German-Lithuanian bureaucracy, he was already dead. Blazer changed his appearance, growing a moustache—one that would be fairly flamboyant by the war’s end—and took a new name. Abraham Blazer became Isaak Kagan. For as long as this subterfuge wasn’t uncovered, he would be as safe as anyone else. Maybe, in some ways, even safer: at a time when information about who you were and what you had done could put you in jeopardy, what better to be than a man with no history?


Under his new name, Blazer was accepted in the Jewish ghetto police. His job was to keep order and to make sure those living in the ghetto obeyed the arbitrary rules imposed upon them: walking on the right side of the street, never stopping to congregate. But it turned out that he wasn’t a good fit for this kind of work. He later rationalized his shortcomings: “If one wanted to be a good policeman, one had to be very harsh and very strict, and I was neither.” He also had other things on his mind: he was sneaking out of the ghetto to trade goods. Whether because of his failures on the job, or because of his illicit sideline, he lasted only eight weeks. Next, he was taken on as a locksmith in a workshop, but when he got sick, he was let go from that job too.


After that Blazer—or Kagan—became a full-time self-employed smuggler of goods in and out of the ghetto. This, by his own account, was a job that played to his strengths. He knew plenty of Polish people to trade with outside the ghetto, and he had worked out strategies to persuade the ghetto guards to let him and his hidden cargo pass through. “I always had something on me, wrapped around my legs, my belly and so on,” he said. He found a basement that connected to a street outside the ghetto through which he could, for a time, smuggle in goods—even heavy sacks of potatoes and flour—and could come and go without anyone knowing.


This smuggling business was lucrative, but it was also high risk, and things didn’t always go smoothly. One time Blazer was caught up in a sweep by the Lithuanian police, and bought himself out of trouble only with a gold watch and a substantial stash of money. Another time he went to see a Polish housewife whom he’d traded with many times before—he was bringing her fabric for a coat and a suit. Once he was inside her apartment, two Lithuanians joined them and demanded his documents, took everything he had, and announced that they would be taking him to the police station. Blazer saw a split-second opportunity and managed to jump out of the window into the garden and escape, but he had lost his—which is to say Isaak Kagan’s—documents and his certificate. Shortly afterward he was called to see the ghetto police chief, handed over to the Lithuanians, and put back in jail. Only through the efforts of his wife and brother-in-law, and after more cash changed hands, was he once more set free—or as free as any Jewish man was in the Vilna ghetto—and Isaak Kagan’s documents were returned to him. Somehow his luck had held out, but he was sailing very close to the wind.


By now, Blazer had managed to find a better place within the ghetto for his family to stay. It was in a kind of entryway, maybe five by eight feet, but it had a window. He scavenged some planks from an attic and made a table, two stools, and a cot, and he also found a broken mattress that he fixed up. With ten tiles and some iron corner pieces scavenged from a destroyed building, he built a stove to keep them warm. For its vent, he stole some guttering. He took pride in what he had created and in what it represented. As winter turned to spring, he would even pick flowers from outside the ghetto and bring them home.


“I’d bring fresh lilacs almost every day,” he remembered. “I came to terms with this way of life, and it seemed that things would be like this until the war ended.”
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During this period of relative stability in the Vilna ghetto, from early 1942 to mid-1943, the surviving Jewish population established a simulacrum of regular everyday existence, even in these appalling circumstances. One aspect of this was the resurgence of a rich cultural life. Some ghetto inhabitants questioned whether this was appropriate—in the wake of planned theater performances, leaflets were circulated protesting that “in a graveyard, you don’t make a theater.” But others saw the ghetto inhabitants’ creative output as a defiant manifestation of their enduring humanity and undefeated spirit. In this view, any kind of artistic production under such dire circumstances demonstrated, by its very existence, one freedom that the Germans could not completely control or take away. Moreover—given that the Nazis were no more successful than oppressors before and after at preventing works of art from resonating in ways that aren’t easily understood or regulated by those in power—such works could also serve as specific acts of resistance.


A memorable and potent example, one that directly related to the emergent awareness of Ponar, came in March 1943, when a musical competition was held in the ghetto. The winning entry was the song “Shtiler, Shtiler” (Quiet, quiet), with music written by an eleven-year-old boy, a doctor’s son called Alex Wolkowiski, and lyrics credited to the poet and author Shmerke Kaczerginski. The song did not reflect upon some distant historical past, nor mysteriously cloud its meaning in metaphor. It was written right from the predicament that all the ghetto residents were in:




Quiet, quiet, let’s be silent,


Graves are growing here;


The enemy has planted them,


See how green they are?


All the roads lead to Ponar.


There is no road leading back.


Father’s vanished, no one knows where,


And with him went our luck.





Ponar reappears in the second stanza—“her child is gone to Ponar”—as the sense of pain and despair is amplified. Toward the end of the third stanza, the song takes a slight turn, projecting toward some future day when freedom will come, though the song’s center seems far less about that than about how to endure the chasm of suffering that the present has imposed.


The song wasn’t a call to action, certainly not in any obvious way, just a mournful reflection of what was, its defiance swaddled in stoicism. That may be why the Nazis appear not to have objected to it, though they may also have been unaware of its full unexpurgated lyrics. Kaczerginski described later how, whenever the song was performed in public in the ghetto—there are sickening accounts of high-ranking Germans attending ghetto entertainments—some of its specificity would be disguised, in particular the place at the song’s center. But out of German earshot, one particular couplet in the first stanza resonated: a simple and elegant distillation of what those in the Vilna ghetto eventually recognized as the truth:




All the roads lead to Ponar.


There is no road leading back.
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Over this period, the ghetto was effectively run by a Jewish man called Jacob Gens. His story, with all the uncomfortable contradictions he faced, would, long after, become the best-known morality tale of these Vilna ghetto years. Before the war, Gens had been a captain in the Lithuanian army, fighting Poland, a credential that gave him some standing in the non-Jewish world. He had married a Catholic woman, and they had one daughter. When the Germans invaded, he accepted a role as administrative director of the Jewish hospital in Vilna, but in September 1941 he was selected as chief of the Jewish police force. The following summer the Germans appointed him as head of the Judenrat, the Jewish council.


In both roles, Gens tried to thread a needle that may have been impossible to thread. He evidently believed that if someone took on the responsibility of efficiently providing the Germans with a certain amount of what they demanded, then that person could protect the surviving Jewish community. Anyone involved in the administration of a Jewish ghetto under Nazi occupation came up against many disturbing moral quandaries, not least that the very act of overseeing a productive Jewish workforce aided the Nazi war effort. But whether by choice or due to the particular circumstances forced upon him in Vilna, Gens made decisions that pushed much further. At times, to keep the Germans from coming into the ghetto and taking whoever they wanted, he would arrange for an agreed number of Jews to be delivered for extermination. At other times, he arranged for his men to round up Jews in other Lithuanian ghettos and have them delivered to Ponar in apparent exchange for those in Vilna being left alone.


Consequently, Gens has often been painted as a villain, a man who at worst actively collaborated with an evil occupier, and who at best had the arrogance and hubris to make life-and-death decisions for others. Those who see Gens more sympathetically argue that he took on the responsibility, at an impossible time and in an impossible situation, to keep as many Jews alive for as long as he was able, in hopes that the ghetto would eventually be liberated and that those he had kept alive would survive the war. If someone like him had not brokered unpalatable deals with the Germans, the ghetto would have been liquidated immediately, and no one would have had any chance of surviving. Under his jurisdiction, the Vilna ghetto became a place that, even in these pathological circumstances, was strangely functional. Standards were established and enforced for sanitation, security, and food distribution; there was a thriving library, as well as regular theater and music performances. A further argument often raised in Gens’s favor is that he had connections in the non-Jewish world that might have allowed him to escape the ghetto (his wife and daughter lived outside), but he chose not to do so. In this light, what his detractors have seen as arrogance and self-delusion, others see as a selfless, and ultimately suicidal, commitment to his Jewish kinfolk in these hardest of times.


Perhaps history would have been kinder to Gens if he had successfully shepherded a reduced Vilna ghetto population through the war. Nearly twenty thousand people were left in the ghetto at the beginning of 1942; if most of them had survived, would the decisions Gens made have seemed more justifiable? Possibly. But it didn’t turn out that way. The fragile stability of 1942 and early 1943 was only ever a convenience for the oppressors rather than a concession to the oppressed.


Jacob Gens never saw the final unraveling of what he had tried to hold together. If he believed that he had made himself personally indispensable to the Germans, he had miscalculated; in September 1943, a few weeks before his ghetto was completely liquidated, he was taken away and executed.
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Even during the ghetto’s comparatively calm period, danger could resurface at any moment. Weeks might go by, months might go by, and then in an instant, the world might shift around you, and your next decision might be your last. In the second half of 1943, Yitzhak Dogin was working unloading big barrels of fuel at a depot outside the ghetto. Like many other workers, he commuted back and forth. One morning some Germans intercepted him and informed him that his labor was needed elsewhere. Dogin found himself being marched in a crowd of around two thousand toward the train station. He knew this was some kind of trouble. At best, he might be taken to a distant work camp and to a new uncertain future away from his remaining family. At worst, he was on his way to Ponar.


Part of the torture that people faced, over and over again, was in never knowing whether the greater risk, at any particular juncture, was to acquiesce or to take some other kind of gamble. Either choice might guarantee death or might allow you to live for another day. This time Dogin chose the gamble of doing something over the gamble of not. He waited for a good opportunity, then slipped away from the procession, climbed over a fence, removed his yellow-starred jacket, and managed to reach his regular workplace at the fuel depot without anyone stopping him. There—the next risk—he searched out a man called Willy, a German sergeant. Dogin had reason to hope Willy wasn’t like the other Germans. Willy had privately told him that he used to run a bar in Berlin and was once a member of the Communist Party. And once when the two of them had gone on a job together into the forest to get some tree branches, Willy had left Dogin with his rifle. Now, faced with few good options, Dogin resolved to throw himself at Willy’s mercy.


When Dogin entered Willy’s room, Willy was eating. Seeing Dogin standing there, Willy didn’t say anything—he just fetched a spoon and a plate for Dogin. Willy clearly understood what was happening and what was needed. Nothing needed to be said, and nothing was. After they’d eaten, Dogin went to sleep in the corner. He hid there for three days, then slipped back into the ghetto, undetected.


As August turned to September 1943, the Germans announced that people in the ghetto could sign up to go to labor camps in Estonia. Few did so, at first. After so much German deceit, there was widespread distrust. Even if the offer was genuine, people worried what kind of life might await them in Estonia. Soon, however, faced with a lack of volunteers, the Germans began to hijack Jews on their way to work and snatched them from their homes in the ghetto, at first taking just men.


To avoid this fate, Abraham Blazer joined about a hundred other men hiding in an underground maline beneath where they had been living at 5 Ozmaniska Street. Hana and Zvi remained on the second floor. Then the Germans abruptly announced that anyone hiding had to reveal themselves, as they would now start blowing up buildings, beginning with this one. But Zvi was sick, and Hana couldn’t move quickly enough. The two of them were still on the second floor when the explosives went off. One side of the building collapsed into the basement, and the staircase was partially destroyed. Thirty-six bodies were found in the rubble, and eighty more people were caught by the waiting Germans as they left the building.


Abraham Blazer, below ground, was unhurt. He realized that it would be folly to go out into the street, but he needed to know whether his family had survived. Nothing but the banister and the top two steps were left of the staircase, yet he managed to clamber up to the second floor. There he found Hana, Zvi in her arms, pale and terrified but safe. They stayed up there among the wreckage, the three of them, and listened to the nearby explosions that would kill hundreds of other Jews in hiding that day. Only in the evening, when the bombing ceased, did they make their way to the street.


After that close call, Hana argued that they should go to Estonia after all. By now letters were circulating in the ghetto, purportedly from those who had first been taken there, attesting that they had arrived safely and were working, and that everyone else should follow. These letters seem to have been real—thousands of Jews actually were transported from Vilna to Estonia, and some of them would survive the war—but that doesn’t necessarily mean that the letters were freely written, or that their contents accurately described the true beliefs or experiences of those who appeared to have written them. Nonetheless, as evidence of the ghetto’s imminent destruction became clearer, more people decided to go. Blazer overruled Hana, however. He told her that if all they wanted to do was to die, they could do that right here easily enough: “There’s no need to move to another ghetto to be killed.”


It was not long afterward, as the ghetto became increasingly precarious, that they saw Hana’s mother for the last time. She had been fetching oil and shoes for her grandson when she was swept up in a flow of people herded away by the Germans. There was nothing that could be done. “The grief, the hurt was terrible,” Hana said. But all they could do was hide before the same fate befell them.


Yitzhak Dogin’s extended family also decided not to show up for the transports to Estonia. Instead, they sequestered themselves in Dogin’s small maline. There were now twenty-four of them in there. That’s where they remained, even after the whole ghetto had been liquidated and emptied out toward the end of September 1943. At night, when it seemed safer, they could open the door and let in some air; during the day they were shut in tight. From their cramped hiding place, they could hear the area being searched and, every now and then, the shouts and screams of those who had been caught.


One day they realized that the searchers were now going house by house, throwing all the furniture into the street, and that their cupboard hiding space was bound to be revealed. Dogin’s group relocated to a space under the roof, barricading themselves in with planks. From this new hiding place, they could see just a little through the roof shingles. At night, Dogin would go down to the street, scavenging for food in the small hours. There he would encounter others, just like him, scuttling like mice under cover of darkness. Each time he went down, there were fewer of them.


After a while, the Germans cut off the electricity and water that fed the house, but Dogin was able to run wires up from the mains in the courtyard, where there was also a working toilet from which they would get water at night. A month into their self-confinement, they had another close shave: a Polish guard with an ax could be heard searching the house. Fearful that the man would find all of them, Dogin and a friend emerged to talk with him. They tried to convince him that the two of them were the only people left here, and they traded him a coat for some bread and onions. The Polish guard seemed agreeable to keeping their secret, but it worried them that someone now had a good idea where they were. Still, the other options didn’t seem attractive—they’d heard about people hiding in cellars who’d swelled up from oxygen deprivation. In the end, Dogin’s group decided to stay put and to hope.
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Among those now living below the ground were Abraham Blazer with his wife and child. The first night after the ghetto liquidation, they had crawled inside a chimney where there was just room for the three of them, squeezed together, listening to the screams and cries of those whose sanctuaries were discovered. Before dawn, when it was quiet at last, Blazer searched for a better spot. They joined a larger group in a basement.


Put humans under enough pressure for long enough, and the gap between salvation and tragedy shrinks so much that the two become almost indivisible. Blazer’s wife later said of the time she and her husband and her son spent in this subterranean maline in the days after the ghetto’s liquidation: “The smell, it suffocated me. Everyone sat on the floor with blankets. At night the men went to bring water and food. There were beans and lentils. We had this pot and they cooked there, and divided among everybody. And they ate and thought what to do next. We heard gunshots all the time. Gunshots—they’d found Jews. They didn’t find us, but they were looking. We thought we were buried there. There was a big tragedy there, also. They killed one baby who was crying. That’s a story for afterward.”


Hana shared this account fifty-five years after the event, in a filmed interview for an archive of Holocaust testimonies. Whether or not she returned to this story after the filming was over, she said no more about it as the camera was rolling.


In the years since the war, this predicament—of a baby killed as Jews hid together in enclosed spaces, trying not to be heard while their would-be murderers searched for them—has been discussed as an example of the terrible moral dilemmas Jews faced in the Holocaust. Rabbi Shimon Efrati, who served as rabbi to Jews gathered in Warsaw after the war ended, met a man who confessed that he had held a pillow over a baby’s face, releasing it too late once the danger had passed. Someone who survived the Vilna ghetto might well have ended up in Poland right after the war; this man could plausibly be the person who had shared the same trapped air as Hana. But a sadder truth seems more likely, that this was a horror repeated in multiple hiding places.*


I came across a consideration of the Rabbi Shimon Efrati story, and the dilemma at its center, in a book, Understanding Jewish Ethics, that was published over a quarter-century ago. In the chapter “Self-sacrifice and Martyrdom in the Holocaust,” the author considered: “The question arises whether it is permissible to save many people at the potential expense of one. . . . The guilt felt by the man who killed the child was such that he asked a Rabbi Efrati to evaluate the implications of his actions so that the man might know whether in fact he was ethically or legally justified in his action.” The author seemed to concur with the rabbi’s ruling—“that it was legally permissible for the man to put the child in possible danger to save the rest from certain danger”—and moved toward a more general, gently hopeful conclusion: “In more senses than one, the Holocaust provides the post-Holocaust world with an incentive and motivation to build a moral society. If one needs to search for some meaning from the lives and deaths of those who died in the Holocaust it is perhaps that the ultimate salvation of the world can be achieved through the emulation of moral actions of self-sacrifice and martyrdom.”


I linger on this tale partly because it presents the kind of moral quandary that will hover incessantly in the background of this book. When we consider the worst things that can be done to people, perhaps what comes most readily to mind are direct acts of aggression: torture, injury, murder. Then perhaps we wonder how to measure those against the torment that comes when such acts are visited on those we love. But a more complicated horror is the cruelty that forces a person to choose between options that seem equally unacceptable and unbearable. The dilemma of the crying baby in the maline is one such situation; the men at the center of this book would face others, day after day.


But I also quote these words because of a conjunction that is too strange not to mention. The author of the essay on the dilemma of the crying baby in the maline, to be found in the first of two hefty and intricate treatises he wrote on Jewish ethics, was Richard Freund, then an associate professor in the department of religion and philosophy at a midwestern American university. At the time when he considered these moral tales from Lithuania and elsewhere in Eastern Europe, he had never set foot in these places. But later, as his career evolved, he became known for hands-on investigations that bridged history and archaeology. And one of them would bring him to Lithuania where, among other things, he would lead the search for an escape tunnel at a place called Ponar.
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Abraham Blazer strived to find an alternative to the basement maline. Every night when the now-empty ghetto was quiet, he would roam with two missions in mind: to find food, and to find somewhere where he and his family might be safer. He had found a new way to slip in and out of the ghetto itself without being caught, by crawling through an attic window, then climbing down, and he would wander far and wide in the night hours, surreptitiously renewing connections with Polish friends. At first, those he left each night in the maline didn’t believe him when he told them about his nocturnal expeditions. They challenged him to return with a Polish newspaper and some bread. The following day, once the bread had been divided between them, they started to believe.


Blazer set up some of his maline companions with refuges outside the ghetto and helped smuggle them out. Then the Blazers’ own chance came. He had found a Polish farmer called Alexander Namchik who, in return for a suitable payment, had agreed that they could live in the cowshed. He helped Blazer dig a bunker, Hana taking away the buckets of soil as the excavation progressed. Blazer also made some makeshift beds from boards and hay. For the first two weeks, they survived on the food that they had smuggled with them from the ghetto, but eventually they ran short. One day in mid-November, Blazer said he would go out to find more. He promised to be back by five o’clock that evening.


He didn’t return. On his way to find some acquaintances, Blazer was spotted by two Germans. Knowing that he would not be able to talk his way out of this situation, he ran. When the Germans caught him, he fought, but he was taken—teeth newly broken, blood flowing from his mouth—to the Gestapo prison.
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As Yitzhak Dogin and his family had feared, the Polish guard with the ax eventually betrayed them. They had been hiding for two months when the guard led the Lithuanian police to their hiding place. Out in the daylight of the street for the first time in so long, they were ordered to get on a truck. At first they refused. Why should they agree to begin what surely would be the last journey they would ever take?


Then Dogin’s younger sister, Nechama, spoke up. “Let’s show them that Jews are not afraid of death!” she announced.


And with these words, she climbed aboard the truck.


The maline’s inhabitants were taken to the Gestapo prison. There, after a few hours, the women and children were taken away. That was the last time Yitzhak Dogin would ever see them.


The next morning, the door of Room 21, the basement cell where Dogin was imprisoned, swung open, and several senior Gestapo officers came in, “to see with their own eyes,” he surmised, “the people who had survived in the ghetto without water, food and heating.” The Germans quizzed him and the others there about their professions. As with so many questions that a Jew could face in these years, every answer required a potentially life-or-death calculation. Dogin decided to tell what was more or less the truth. So did his friend Goldberg. They both said they were electricians.


After sharing this information, the two were led out of the cell, unsure whether, through their honesty, they had spared themselves for one more day or had sealed their fate. First, they were ordered to load some crates of wine and beer into a truck. Then they were told to climb into the back with this cargo. As the truck moved through the city streets, Goldberg rummaged around next to where they were sitting, looking for clues, trying to work out anything at all about what was happening. Sadly, his search was a productive one. Goldberg found the school documents of his eleven-year-old son and his twelve-year-old daughter, papers they would have had with them when they had been taken away from the prison along with the women and other children. “It was,” Dogin noted with grim understatement, “a bad sign.”


The truck’s first stop was the apartment of a Gestapo officer called Knapp. Dogin and Goldberg were to help him move house. They were ordered to load his sofa and table into the truck and also to take his old radio, which required disassembling the antenna. After another journey, this one slightly longer, they found themselves at a house that bordered on the edge of a forest.


Dogin and Goldberg unloaded the furniture and the crates of alcohol into Knapp’s new home, and Knapp ordered Dogin to set up the radio. While he was doing so, Dogin noticed a bread roll on the windowsill. He was ravenous, and he thought about it . . . but decided against it. Then in another room, he saw another bread roll, also just lying there. Again, he resisted temptation. Probably it was a wise decision. He saw Knapp looking at him and knew—whether because it was some kind of trap or test, or just because he was a Jew and Knapp was a Gestapo officer—that he was in terrible danger.


Even so, when Dogin finished his work, he dared to ask Knapp—as he had learned to do in such situations—for a cigarette.


The answer came only in German—“Du wirst aufstehen wo blau”—but Dogin understood. “You will only receive cigarettes in the blue sky.” It was difficult to miss the accompanying implication—that Dogin might not need to wait too long.


Once they finished the work at Knapp’s new house, Dogin and Goldberg got back into the truck, which drove a little way into the forest, then stopped again. As they waited by the vehicle, the Polish driver did give Dogin a cigarette, so Dogin stood by the side of the road and lit up. That was when a terrible sensation came over him.


He had been well aware, ever since they’d first driven into the forest toward Knapp’s new house, where he now was. He was in Ponar. As Dogin inhaled this cigarette, everything overwhelmed him. He felt the earth beneath his feet sinking, giving way under his weight. It had snowed all the previous night, and so perhaps the ground really did drop under him. But that was not the image that unanchored his senses. He knew in general what had been happening at Ponar, as all Vilna Jews now did, and he also had a pretty firm idea of a specific recent event that had taken place here. “Maybe,” he told himself, “I am standing on my family’s grave.”


Dogin was snapped out of his reverie by an argument taking place between his German captors. Knapp’s proposal, straightforward in its clarity, was that Dogin be shot here and now. Another German officer, who had come over from a nearby work group in the forest, disagreed. The debate went back and forth. Dogin could only listen and wait.


After a time, Knapp reluctantly backed down. Dogin was allowed into the truck, to be taken back to the Gestapo prison.


Before they left, Dogin did see, off in the distance, the group of Jews whom the other officer had been overseeing. These Jews seemed hard at work, about a hundred yards away through the forest, though Dogin couldn’t figure out exactly what they were doing.


It seems almost certain that one of those figures, working under guard, was someone Dogin had yet to meet but would come to know well: a teenage boy named Motke Zeidel.





 


* The newspaper’s failures in bringing the story of the Holocaust to its readers are covered most expansively in Laurel Leff’s book Buried by the Times, which closely analyzes “decisions that ultimately resulted in the minimizing and misunderstanding of modern history’s worst genocide.” As one example, Leff traces the behind-the-scenes skepticism of New York Times correspondents to this specific story of mass murder in Lithuania, and she shows in detail how that skepticism affected the way the story was presented. And while in this instance these skeptics were, in a very limited and dogmatic way, correct—sixty thousand Vilna Jews had not just been shot in May—Leff convincingly demonstrates a more general and ingrained resistance on the newspaper’s behalf to accept and report the truth of what the Nazis were actually doing.


* To be clear, even in the summer of 1942, these belated accounts of what had happened in Eastern Europe were not unequivocally understood or believed by the wider world. Even eighteen months later, in January 1944, Arthur Koestler wrote in The New York Times from London about his ongoing perpetual uphill battle to convince people about what he calls “the greatest mass killing in recorded history.” He detailed a recurring dream in which he was murdered in a thicket only ten yards from a busy road where a passing crowd continued to chat and laugh, oblivious to his screams. Then Koestler continued: “The other day I met one of the best-known American journalists over here. He told me that in the course of some recent public opinion survey nine out of ten average American citizens, when asked whether they believed that the Nazis commit atrocities, answered that it was all propaganda lies, and that they didn’t believe a word of it!”


* A similar story, from September 1941, was told by the teenager Yitskhok Rudashevski in his Diary of the Vilna Ghetto: “Suddenly, somewhere upstairs, a child bursts into tears. A desperate groan breaks forth from everyone’s lips. We are lost. A desperate attempt to shove sugar into the child’s mouth is of no avail. They stop up the child’s mouth with pillows. The mother of the child is weeping. People shout in wild terror that the child should be strangled. The child is shouting more loudly, the Lithuanians are pounding more strongly against the walls.” In his diary, Rudashevski’s account continued, “However, slowly everything calmed down of itself,” implying that the worst didn’t happen, but Abba Kovner later wrote that Rudashevski had asked his advice about whether or not to tell everything. For as Kovner’s biographer Dina Porat summarized, “The judgment and verdict of later generations might be unfair.” Rudashevski’s diary was published posthumously; he was shot at Ponar in 1943, two months before his sixteenth birthday.
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